ANNUAL
REPORT 2015

Injazzat Real Estate Development Co. K.S.C.P.
P.O.Box 970 Safat. Postal Code 13010 Kuwait
Tel: +965 2227 5300/200 Fax: +965 2242 0103
www.injazzat.com

HIS HIGHNESS
SHEIKH SABAH AL-AHMAD AL-JABER AL-SABAH
AMIR OF THE STATE OF KUWAIT

HIS HIGHNESS
SHEIKH NAWAF AL-AHMAD AL-JABER AL-SABAH
CROWN PRINCE

HIS HIGHNESS
SHEIKH JABER AL-MUBARAK AL-SABAH
PRIME MINISTER

Board Members

FAISAL FAHAD AL-SHAYA
CHAIRMAN

MOHAMED ABDUL HAMEED AL-MARZOOK
VICE CHAIRMAN

MOHAMMAD IBRAHIM AL-FARHAN
BOARD MEMBER AND CEO

AYMAN ABDULLATEEF AL-SHAYA
BOARD MEMBER

HAMAD EMAD AL-SAQER
BOARD MEMBER

Contents
Chairman’s Message

3

Company’s Projects

5 - 13

Performance of the Domestic Economy

14 - 15

Performance of the local Real Estate Market

16 - 17

Company’s Financial Analysis

18 - 21

Consolidated financial statements and independent
auditors’ reports

23

Chairman’s Message
DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
OF INJAZZAT REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO..
On behalf of myself and fellow members of the
Board of Directors, I am pleased to welcome you all
to the annual general assembly meeting of Injazzat
Real Estate Development Company (K.S.C.P), and to
present to you the annual report and the financial
statements for the fiscal year ending December 31st,
2015.
Despite the many geopolitical challenges that our
region is facing, especially during the second half
of 2015, the company managed to maintain its
leading position among real estate companies in
the State of Kuwait due to its distinguished financial
performance, its quality of assets, and its compliance
with its strategy based on reinforcing and developing
value of its real estate assets.
The company’s management are currently working to
ensure the company’s commitment to the provisions,
laws and the implementation of regulations and
instructions issued by the Capital Markets Authority
(CMA), including the corporate governance
requirements, which provides a balanced structure
for the Board of Directors by including non-Executives
and independent members.
The most notable achievements on the global
level during 2015, was acquiring a new investment
opportunity in the United Kingdom real estate market
specifically in London, this is through purchasing a
residential building with the aim of renovating it, and
selling it as individual units. In addition, the company
also invested in an opportunity in the form of a
residential building in one of the high- class quarters
in Paris. The building will be divided in to units that
will be offered for sale.
On the regional level, the company started the
development of Al-Yal project situated in Al –Seef
District of Manama. The project comprises of two
residential buildings with a total built up area of
about 90,000 square meters. The company also
increased its ownership percentage in First Real
Estate Company in the Kingdom of Bahrain due to
its promising investments and rewarding revenues in
the forthcoming years.

The company also began developing a residential
and commercial tower at Al Jadaf area, Dubai, with
a total built up area of about 21,000 square meters.
As for the financial position, the company’s assets
scored KD 97.6 million as per the year ending 2015 in
the end of 2015 (KD 105.4 million in 2014), a decline
by 8%, affected by the repayment of KD 9 million
loan to a local bank. Shareholders equity rose to KD
57 million compared to (KD 55.5 million in 2014), an
increase of 3%.
The financial performance during 2015 was positive.
Total revenues scored KD 10.3 million in the end of
2015 (KD 6.3 million in 2014) achieving a double digit
figure in growth rate and profits, an increase by 63%
from 2014. Expenditures and other operation costs
and provisions scored KD 6.9 million in 2015 (KD4.8
million in 2014), an increase by 44%. Consequently,
the company’s net profits increased to KD 3.1 million
in 2015 (KD 1.5 million in 2014), 103% growth rate.
As a result of these excellent achievements, the Board
of Directors recommended distributing cash dividends
of 5 fils per share (5%) to the shareholders registered
on the date of convening the general assembly
meeting. This recommendation is of course subject to
the approval of the general assembly as well as the
competent authorities.
Ladies and
shareholders,

gentlemen,

Injazzat

Company

In the end, I would like to extend my sincerest
appreciation and thanks to the members of the
Board of Directors, the Executive Committee, and the
Executive Management and to all company personnel
for their effective contributions and tangible efforts.
Likewise, I would like to extend on behalf of the Board
of Directors and myself and all company employees
our great thanks and gratitude to our dear shareholders
for their valuable trust and continued support which
in turn forms a great stimulus for us, driving for more
remarkable accomplishments.
Kindness regards,

In the United Arab Emirates, the Jebel Ali Residential
Project was completed. This project is assigned as a
labor accommodation. Work is still underway at Al
Sanbouk Project, Jebel Ali Area, which is expected to
be completed in the second half of 2016.

Faisal Fahad Al-Shaya
Chairman of the Board
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THE COMPANY PROJECTS
INTRODUCTION
The journey of success of Injazzat Company was not a coincidence but the outcome and result of
industrious hard work and commitment to carefully contemplated strategy that the company pursued to
help accomplish its goals. Despite the difficult and uncontrollable challenges encountered by the real estate
investment market due to global and regional political and economic changes, the Company continued
its journey to achieve the targets which it adopted in 2012 when it restructured its assets. It persisted in
the development of its operations by relying on investment in profitable and income-generating assets in
addition to transforming non-operational assets into income generating ones to support other assets. It
introduced innovative characteristics to its existing assets which in turn reinforced their overall value and
generated more income to the fixed assets. It was not simple for the company to take the lead in the very
fiercely competitive real estate market under the surrounding fluctuations and challenges.
Injazzat persisted to implement its expansion strategy targeting new regional and international markets and
in particular the promising and developing markets as well as the recovering markets from the devastating
repercussions of the global financial crisis in 2009. As a result, the Company secured a strategic position
and accomplished unique milestones which helped achieve the essential needed balance between incomegenerating development projects and land trading in strategic locations.
These efforts are best reflected in a selected group of the Company’s investment and development projects
locally, regionally and internationally to be addressed in more detail in the following sections.

Kuwait
Even though Injazzat currently holds a single asset in Kuwait, the Company seeks to offer an array of
integrated real estate development services that include selling services, land trading and developing and
real estate projects management. Aiming ultimately to benefit from increased land value, yielding lucrative
returns from income generating properties while committed to its strategic plans which aims to diversify
company’s assets, while looking closely at the local market for suitable income generating assets.

Al Dajeej Building
Al Dajeej Building is located in Al Farwaniya area and was purchased by the Company to become one of the
Company’s income generating assets. It reinforces the Company’s strategy for local expansion specifically in
properties with regular returns. The current total leased area of the building is approximately 10.634 sq.m.
and is currently utilized through long-term government contracts.

www.injazzat.com

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

5

GCC COUNTRIES
The Company seeks firmly to comply with its expansionist strategy to achieve geographical and categorical
diversification on regional and global levels. For this purpose, it persisted in adopting the expansionist
policy in several neighboring Gulf countries and is involved vehemently in the construction and investment
development in these states defying all surrounding challenges. The Company strengthened its projects’
assets in the recovering GCC markets such as the Kingdom of Bahrain and the United Arab Emirates. It also
exited from some non-income generating investments in Qatar. The Company continues with its journey
devising the best innovative methods to benefit from some of the existing projects in the United Arab
Emirates and transform them to income-generating assets that create more feasible real estate opportunities
to secure an added value to the company and its shareholders.

KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN
The Kingdom of Bahrain appears to have surpassed both the economic and political challenges of the past
and is heading in the right direction. Development of infrastructure and communication networks have gone
underway thus an improvement in the economic climate is visible which in turn presents opportunities
particularly in the real estate sector. As far as the Company’s assets are concerned, the Company was
capable of surmounting all the impediments and managed to lease out all its projects at competitive prices
due to the Company’s selection of distinctive opportunities in the past.

Dhow Real Estate Company
Dhow Real Estate Company was established in 1999 as a Bahraini company fully owned by Injazzat to
invest, develop and trade in Bahrain’s real estate sector. It has realized fine results from a number of sales
and acquisition deals. The Company enhanced the list of its income-generating assets through developing
warehouses at the Bahrain Investment Wharf Project. In addition, the Company still owns several strategically
located plots in the areas of Al Seef and Ras Zuwaid.

Al Yal Real Estate Company
In equal partnership with First Real Estate Company, Al Yal Real Estate Company was established in Bahrain.
The company has succefully developed Al Yal Residence, and is currently starting the development on its
largest project of the Kingdom of Bahrain in Al Seef area

Al Yal Residence Tower - Al Seef District
The Company had developed one plot of Al Seef Land, covering an area
of 1,553 square meters, into a luxurious residential tower of 25 floors and
a total built up area of 19,178 sq. meters. The project comprises 130 fully
furnished residential units plus a restaurant, gym, children play area and
a swimming pool. The tower overlooks the sea and is situated, in one of
the most strategic locations in Al Seef area, just a few meters from City
Center and Al Seef Mall. The project was completed in August 2014, and
is fully leased.
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Al Yal Residential project
Al Yal Real Estate Company intends to start the development on the company’s largest project. The project
comprises of two residential towers along with a commercial space that lies between the towers. The
project is to be built on a plot that measures 6,530 square meters, and the company intends to sell units in
one tower, while furnishing the other and leasing it out on long term leases.

First Real Estate Company
In 2002, Injazzat established “First Real Estate Company” in the Kingdom of Bahrain shared equally with
a qualified Bahraini investor who is an expert in both the construction and real estate fields to develop
residential complexes.
In 2005, the Company underwent restructuring and its capital was increased to BD 30 million through
adding some new assets and allowing the entry of new investors. The Company maintains the quality and
performance of its current income-generating assets that enjoy high occupancy rates. In parallel, it works
to continuously invest in new promising future projects through the development of its lands and assets
situated in strategic locations. The project was leased at competitive rates. Furthermore, the company is
currently preparing feasibility studies with regards to another residential project on a piece of land owned
by the company in the same area.

www.injazzat.com
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UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
The United Arab Emirates is one of the most stable and attracting states to investment opportunities
especially in the Emirate of Dubai. The Emirate market managed to maintain its stability and achievements
more than its peers in the Gulf and Arab regions. It went on with the construction and development
plan especially as the State is committed to host a number of international events including a world event
like Expo 2020 on its territory. This will help create a competitive environment that will generate more
investment opportunities and real estate development and will open new horizons for transactions that
would be beneficial to the entire region. Therefore, the Company was keen to develop and diversify sources
of income and distribute risks in the UAE market through the purchasing of several lands in various locations
in Dubai, and Abu Dhabi.

Dunes Village. Dubai Investment Park
Previously, Injazzat acquired two residential buildings at Dunes Village located at Dubai Investment Park in
the UAE. The building consists of 52 residential apartments each and covers an area of 108.298 sq.ft. Both
buildings are fully leased.

8
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Al Jadaf
The company started the development of a residential project purchased in Al Jadaf district (a close proximity
to Dubai International Airport & Dubai Financial District). The project comprises of 12 floors. that includes
3 basements and holds a total of 100 apartments boasting different sizes.

Al Qouz Residential Project (I)
Al Qouz labour camp Project is located in Dubai covering a land area of 100.136 sq.ft. and a total built-up
area of approximately 227.000 sq.ft. The project consists of two labor accommodations providing 620
rooms along with offices and commercial shops. Subsequent to the completion and full leasing of the
project, the Company sold 50% of its share in the project to a Kuwaiti company.

Al Qouz Residential Project (II)
Al Qouz labour camp II covers a land area of approximately 50.500 sq.ft. and a total built-up area of
approximately 106.759 sq.ft. It comprises 310 rooms in addition to offices and commercial shops. The
project is leased.

Al Muhaisna Project
The project is located in Al Muhaisna region and covers a total land area of about approximately 57.000 sq.ft.
It comprises a two-story labor accommodation building containing 397 rooms. The company purchased this
project in equal partnership with First Real Estate Company-Kingdom of Bahrain.

www.injazzat.com
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Al Barsha Real Estate Co.
Al Barsha project is located in Al Barsha area within Dubai. It is developed on a plot of 34.675 sq.ft. with a
total built up area of 300.000 sq.ft. It consists of 6 office floors as well as a commercial ground floor. The
Company owns this project with other investors. and the project is fully leased.

Jebel Ali Project (I)
In the end of 2015 the company constructed a labor accommodation project in Jebel Ali within Dubai
consisting of 248 rooms. It has a total built up area of 77.333 sq.ft.

Jebel Ali Project (II)
In association with strategic and local investors. the Company acquired 2 plots of land in Jebel Ali – Dubai
covering a total area of 41.980 sq.ft. The plots are to be developed into a labor accommodation project with
a total built-up area of 159,000 sqf providing a total of 380 rooms. The development started in the second
quarter of 2015. and it is due for completion in 2016.

10

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

www.injazzat.com

INTERNATIONAL LEVEL
On the international level, Injazzat targeted some attractive real estate opportunities in several countries
in Europe and North America. These include direct investments in land and projects under development as
well as indirect investments in real estate funds. These investments are administered by experienced and
knowledgeable partners who are well positioned property managers.

FRANCE
Alpha Investment Fund
The Company established and submitted a real estate fund, in compliance with the Islamic Shari’ah
principles known as the Alpha Investment Fund. Its investment strategy targets profitable office buildings
and warehouses across the North and South eastern French cities between Paris in the north and Marseilles
in the south. The Fund management has started liquidating its assets with four of them already sold.

Avenue De Malakoff. Paris
In December 2014, Injazzat in partnership
with Inovalis acquired a residential building in
the prestigious District 16 of Paris. The building
current includes 18 residential units and the
investors would like to increase the number of
residential units to 59 by remodeling building’s
interior. Management expects that renovation
would start at the end of 2015.

www.injazzat.com
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GERMANY
Hitachi Power Building Project
The Company invested in an office building in Duisburg City, Germany, located in the Düsseldorf Governorate.
Duisburg is one of the major world centers well-known for steel production and trade. It is famous for its
river port Duisport, the largest and most important river port in Europe.
The building consists of 8 floors and two basement floors dedicated for car parking. The total area of the
building is 20.245 m2. The building is wholly leased to Hitachi Power Systems Company under a long-term
lease and generates high periodic returns.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
399 Jefferson, Parsippany
Injazzat owns a significant share in an office building located in Parsippany - New Jersey, USA, covering a
total area of 206.155 sq.ft. The building is fully leased. This investment is anticipated to create sustainable
cash flows to the company.
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Preston Creek
The Company owns a significant share in a commercial complex located in a strategic area between Plano
and Fresno. The project is fully leased and is considered income generating since 2014.

NORTH AMERICA - CANADA
Canadian Student Housing Partnership.
In June 2013, Injazzat in partnership with Beaumont Partners
SA, a Swiss resident company invested in student housing
portfolio in the Delta Centre-Ville Hotel in Montreal, Canada.
The portfolio comprises of two hotels buildings nearby the
University of McGill and Concordia University. The buildings
have been converted into a student accommodation buildings
to be leased to students and then selling it when the investment
period ends.

OTHER PROJECTS
The company also owns projects that are considered in the liquidation phase with financial impact expected
in 2016.
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PERFORMANCE OF THE DOMESTIC ECONOMY
Kuwait’s economy is undergoing a weak performance phase and according to the Economist Intelligence Unit
Information - EIU, it is getting weaker. After a positive but weak performance at 1.1% for its gross Domestic
Product (GDP) in 2013, Kuwait’s economy began to shrink at an average of -1.6% in 2014 and is expected to
mark another downward input at -2.1% in 2015. However, it is anticipated to resume positively at a growth of
1.4% in 2016. Such growth may be doubtful amid the aftermath of greater sliding in oil price. While it is difficult
to explain the weak performance in 2013 with oil prices reaching its highest levels at US$ 104.8 per barrel, it is
certain that the shrinkage in 2014 and 2015 was due to the very weak positioning of the oil market. Along with
some downward pressures on the oil production due to halting production operations of the Partitioned Zone
with Saudi Arabia, oil prices dropped to US$ 95 per barrel in 2014 followed by a drop of about 49.4% upon
registering about US$ 47.9 per barrel in 2015.

Graph (1)

Source: Central Bank of Kuwait. EIU

The more influential factor is the persistent descending trend of Kuwaiti oil prices scoring an average of about US$
42 per barrel in January 2015, then went up to a high price of US$ 63.6 per barrel in May 6th, 2015 to drop again
severely to US$ 27.9 per barrel. the lowest level in December 2015; Its decline continued in the last month of the
year from an average of US$ 37.1 per barrel in 1st of December to US$ 28.4 per barrel in 31st of December 2015.
The average Kuwaiti oil price remained at US$ 47.8 per barrel during the first nine months of the current fiscal year
(April 2015 - December 2015). i.e. US$ 2.8 per barrel higher than the estimated budget price at US$ 45 per barrel,
but the continued descending trend will result in an average price lower than the budgeted price estimate if the
trend lasts for the remaining 3 months until the end of March 2016. While the oil price average scored US$ 81.3 per
barrel in the past fiscal year 2014/2015, the persistence of falling prices would score half that level of prices in the
current fiscal year 2015/2016 which is an indication to a forthcoming crisis in the financial policy.

Graph (2)

Source: Kuwait Petroleum Company. KUNA
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The actual public expenditures level dropped from its highest level at KD 21.4 billion in FY 2014/2015 to KD 19.2
billion estimated for the public budget of FY 2015/2016, marking a 10.5% retreat compared with a sharp decline
in actual revenues due to extreme falls of the oil prices. Consequently, the current fiscal year will witness an
essential and negative difference and will witness a deficit for the first time after 16 years of sustained surplus.

Graph (3)

Source: Ministry of Finance

It also seems that the era of low interest rates is over, though it is expected to remain low with prospects of
continuing at small but sustained increases over distant intervals. That change was ushered by the decision
of the US Federal Reserve Bank in December 2015 to increase it by 0.25%. The Central Bank of Kuwait and 4
GCC Monetary Authorities followed suit. This means a gradual increase in the financing cost accompanied with
difficult business climate as a result of weak oil market and its pressure on public expenditures, Therefore, the
increase in the interest rate will have more negative pressure on asset prices. With financial reform processes
and their implications on compacting expenses, including a partial or total liberation of subsidized commodity
and services prices, inflation rates are likely to increase from their current rate at 3-3.5% which means some
corrosion in the individuals’ available income, which represents a secondary negative factor that leads into
increasing status of business environment difficulty on the short-term.
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Source: Ministry of Finance

The foregoing means a probable reduction on the demand side in terms of the macro-economy level countered
by a surplus on the supply side at the level of companies providing real estate services. Most of these companies
were established during financial abundance. Therefore, a parallel reduction in the supply side is imminent in
the form of pressures on these companies that offer such services that might be forced out of the market. The
sorting process is sound and is in favor of the companies committed to their objectives and are capable of
proactively adapting their business conditions to suit the new difficult business climate. Therefore, balance is
likely going to be for their benefit and not at their expense.
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PERFORMANCE OF THE LOCAL REAL ESTATE MARKET
Oil market began to weaken in the fall of 2014 and the weakness intensified in 2015. This weakness coincided
with aggravated violence in the region adding Yemen to the failing states. GCC states leaving Kuwait at no choice
but to get involved as well directly in the conflict. Certainly, the domestic and regional real estate markets were
adversely affected by these two events. Market liquidity began its gradual retreat and lost 33.7% of 2014 record
liquidity which scored KD 4.96 billion and settled at KD 3.29 billion or less than 2013 level by 15.8%. The
downward trend for liquidity was obvious in 2015 when its liquidity in the 1st-half scored KD 1.858 billion and
dropped compared to its second half by 23% and scored KD 1.431 billion. The decrease might continue in 2016.

Graph (1)

5,000
4,500
4,000
3,500
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
-

Source: Ministry of Justice. Real Estate Registration and Authentication department.

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL HOUSING ACTIVITY
The second victim of market liquidity decline has been the private residential sector activity which is historically
the major contributor to its liquidity. Its trading value in 2015 scored KD 1.474 billion losing 35.1% of its liquidity
in 2014 which scored KD 2.272 billion. Its contribution to the real estate market’s liquidity in the same period
decreased slightly from 45.8% in 2014 to 44.8% in 2015. The Real Estate Report issued by KFH for the first
three quarters of 2015 indicated a drop by 8% in private residential land prices though logically speaking, this
indicates a greater drop. However, the impact of liquidity drop needs longer grace period. In addition, the
private residential activity is an exceptional case due to the shortage of supply with an increased need to private
residency coupled with a solid demand side. Trading was distributed to 4188 transactions (6299 deals in 2014)
with a slight drop in the average price per deal by 2.4% from KD 360.8 thousand in 2014 to KD 352 thousand
in 2015, noting that the average deal price recorded in 2014 was the highest. Its drop in 2015 validates the
accuracy of declining prices by KFH estimates.

Graph (2)

Source: Ministry of Justice. Real Estate Registration and Authentication department.
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INVESTMENT HOUSING ACTIVITY
The investment housing activity was hit the largest from the falling of real estate market liquidity in 2015, with
a loss of about 35.4% of its liquidity compared to the 2014 level. Its trading value scored KD 1.360 billion down
from KD 2.106 billion in 2014. Therefore, its contribution to market liquidity dropped from 42.5% in 2014 to
41.4% in 2015. However, there is no available index to the impact of liquidity drop on prices. However, it is likely
that the drop will be higher than the drop in private residential prices. One of the indications is the drop in the
average price per deal by 27.5% in 2015 vis-a-vis its average in 2014. Investment housing is the most popular
investment channel in Kuwait. Its activity in the late years was supported by the reluctance of surplus liquidity
from heading towards the stock exchange market and the sharp drop in the return of deposits at banks. Hence,
it was the activity which suffered the most. But with the rise in interest rate and the sharp drop in oil prices
coupled with likely drop in liquidity, it would be subject to greater pressure with time.

Graph (3)

Source: Ministry of Justice. Real Estate Registration and Authentication department.

COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ACTIVITY
This activity includes offices and commercial complexes. Unlike the private residential and the investment
housing, absorbing the vacancies within its components needed a longer period after the global financial
crisis in 2008. This strongly pressed its occupancy rates and the rental rates per square meter which caused a
suspension, temporarily of building new complexes. It seems it reached a balance point between supply and
demand in 2014 and 2015. Some distinguished real-estate properties began increasing its rental rates after the
hike in its occupancy rates. Therefore, the drop in its liquidity was less than its main partners in the real estate
sector as it lost 21.8% and raised its contribution to the total liquidity from 11.7% in 2014 to 13.8% in 2015. It
is anticipated that its fluctuation rate will maintain a lower level than the private residential and investment
housing activities. But the variables of macro-economy and the difficult geopolitical situation in the region shall
cause the greatest impact factors.

Graph (4)

Source: Ministry of Justice. Real Estate Registration and Authentication department.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS FOR 2015
THE FINANCIAL POSITION:
Total assets’ of the Company reached in 2015 about KD 97.6 million, less by KD 7.8 million, or by 7.4%, compared to
its level in 2014 of around KD 105.4 million. The majority of assets items dropped, but to varying degrees. Investment
property item, the highest value in the assets, declined from KD 59.1 million (56% of total assets) to KD 52.4 million (53.7%
of total assets). This resulted from selling a major property in Qatar and adding some small real estate investments. Also
the item of cash and bank balances dropped by KD 4.3 million (4.4% of total assets) compared to KD 8.6 million in 2014
(8.2% of total assets). On the other hand, item of investment in an associate company rose from KD 11.7 million, or by
72.9%, and scored KD 27.8 million (28.5% of total assets) versus KD 16.1 million (15.2% of total assets) in 2014. The main
reason for this increase was reclassify the Company’s investment in the “First Real Estate Company” from available-forsale to investment in associates.

ASSETS PERFORMANCE DURING
2010-2015

2015 - 2010 ﺣﺮﻛﺔ ﺃﺻﻮﻝ ﺷﺮﻛﺔ ﺇﻧﺠﺎﺯﺍﺕ ﻟﻠﺘﻨﻤﻴﺔ ﺍﻟﻌﻘﺎﺭﻳﺔ ﺧﻼﻝ ﺍﻟﺴﻨﻮﺍﺕ
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2015
2015
ﺇﺳﺘﺜﻤﺎﺭﺍﺕ
Real estateﻋﻘﺎﺭﻳﺔ
investments

The Company’s assets were distributed geographically to about 10.8% in the local market, 76.9% in the region market or the
GCC markets, and 12.3% in the European and USA markets compared with 10.5%, 75.1% and 14.4% respectively in the previous
year.

Assets Geographic Allocation 2015

KSA
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4.2%
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8.1%

UAE
29.6%

Assets Geographic Allocation 2014
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Kuwait
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KSA
1.5%
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5.3%

Bahrain
38.8%

The Company’s liabilities dropped by KD 9.2 million, or by 18.5%, and scored KD 40.6 million (KD 49.9 million in 2014).
The company used revenues from sale of some properties and cash flows from operating activities to reduce the value of
its debt. Banking loans scored about KD 36 million, distributed between short term debt about KD 4.5 million and long term
debt by about KD 31.5 million, (KD 45 million in the end of 2014), i.e. a declined by KD 9.1 million. It formed about 36.9% of
total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. Loans secured by the pledge of some available-for-sale financial assets, investment
properties and investments in associates owned by the Group. Percentage of total liabilities to total assets in 2015 scored about
41.6% (47.3% in 2014). Percentage total liabilities to total shareholders’ equity scored 71.4% (89.9% in 2014). The company aims
to continue to meet the requirements of its strategy to restructure its debt, to gain access to a sound financing structure, in line
with the nature of its assets, and cautious of the difficult general business environment variables, and can borrow when needed.
The total equity scored KD 56.9 million (KD 55.5 million in 2014), i.e. increased 1.4 million, or by 2.6%, as a result of higher
retained earnings item. Thus, the book value per share scored 161 fils (156.9 fils in 2014).
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THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
The company achieved net profits (after excluding the non-controlling interest) by KD 3.1 million (KD 1.5 million in 2014),
up by KD 1.6 million. This resulted from selling an investment property; it led to a profit under the sale of investment
properties at about KD 2.1 million, compared with a loss for the same item amounted to about KD 185.1 thousand in 2014.
The company also achieved KD 2.3 million profits from a reclassifying process of an investment amounted about of KD
10.6 million from available-for-sale assets to investment in associates. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company
acquired an additional stake of 8.9% in the ownership of the company “First Real Estate” located in Bahrain, has been
classified as an investment item in the associate company. While the item has achieved negative change in fair value of
investment properties loss of about KD 1.5 million, compared with a profit of about KD1.3 million in 2014.
On the other hand, general and administrative expenses (including staff costs) increased by KD 191.4 thousand from KD
1.05 million in 2014 to KD 1.24 million in 2015. Financing costs also increased about KD 109.8 thousand to about KD
1.7 million, compared to about KD 1.6 million in 2014. Thus, the company has achieved a net profit (before NLST and
Zakat tax) amounted to KD 3.3 million, increased by KD 1.7 million, compared with 2014, when it amounted about KD
1.6 million.
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) attributable to equity holders of the parent company scored 9.2 fils (4.5 fils in
2014). Suggest the Board of Directors to distribute cash dividends for the current year by 5%. Return on total assets (ROA)
scored 3.1% (1.4% in 2014). Return on equities (ROE) relevant to parent company shareholders scored 5.4% (2.7% in 2014).
The following table shows, that all of the company’s performance indicators were better than the average sample of real
estate companies listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange performance.

Financial Indexes

Injazzat Real Estate Development Co.

*Average Of listed Companies At KSE

Price Multiplier/Earning Per Share (P/E)

8.9

13.6

Price Multiplier/ Book Value (P/B)

0.5

0.8

Return On Equity (ROE)%

5.4%

5.7%

Return On Assets( ROA)%

3.1%

3.1%

*Average of 36 listed companies at KSE with financial statements calculated on annual basis.

Analysis of Share Performance in 2015:
Kuwait Stock Exchange continued its negative performance during 2015. Where the three main indexed sustained heavy
losses due to the continued drop in oil prices below (US$ 30 per barrel in the fourth quarter of 2015) and heated
geopolitical events in the region and employing oil as a weapon. The weighted index dropped by 13% compared with
2014. Real estate sectors index dropped by 15%. However, the company index rose by 24.2% for the same period, due
to the rise in the demand for company’s shares may be affected by entry of a new shareholder to the list of top company
owners. This may be a temporary rise under the probable negative impact of the general conditions.

The graph displays the development of the company share’s price during the past six years (2009-2015). The performance
of the company share price and the real estate sector indicates decline by 34% and 64.3% respectively during the period.
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INJAZZAT STOCK PERFORMANCE VS REAL ESTATE
Injazzat Stock Performance
Vs Real
SECTOR DURING
2015Estate
- 2009Sector during 2009 - 2015

Value Traded
(000) KD

Value traded

30,000

Injazzat Index

Index

Real Estate Index

140

2015

25,000

120
100

20,000

80
15,000
60
10,000

40

5,000

20

-

-

The company’s share price closed at the end of 2015 at 82 fils, (66 fils in the end of 2014). The market price reached its highest
level in 2015 at 90 fils, while the share price hit its lowest level at 63 fils.

2015

Value Of Traded
Shares
(KD Million)

No. Of Deals
(000)

Volume Of Traded
Shares
(Million Shares)

Market Capitalization Value
(KD Million)

No. of trading days

249.00

Injazzat Real Estate

7.51

1.86

98.27

28.34

651.48

220.04

12,799.97

2,330.33

3,962.47

961.80

41,555.54

26,206.70

% of Real Estate Sector

1.15%

0.85%

0.77%

1.22%

% of Total Market

0.19%

0.19%

0.24%

0.11%

Injazzat Share Turnover

26.5%

Real Estate Sector Turnover

28.0%

Total Real Estate Sector
Total market

*Calculated Based on 249 trading days

The value of traded shares of the company during 2015 scored about KD 7.5 million, with an average daily trading value about
KD 30.2 thousand, a decline by 41.9% compared with KD 51.9 thousand an average daily trading value for 2014. The value of
traded shares represents 1.15% of total value of real estate sector’s trading for 2015. Volume of traded shares scored about 98.3
million shares with an average daily trading about 394.6 thousand shares and a decline by 38.6%, compared with an average
daily trading of 2014, which amounted 642.3 thousand shares.
The share turnover rate realized 26.5% (55.5% for 2014), which means a noticeable drop in the liquidity level of the company
share. It is even less than the sector’s liquidity which scored 28% in 2015. The market capitalization value of the company rose
to KD 28.3 million which equaled 1.22% of the real estate sector’s market capitalization value. It is higher by KD 5.5 million than
the market capitalization value achieved in 2014 at KD 22.8 million.
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Independent auditors’ report
To the shareholders of
Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.P.S.C.
Kuwait
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Injazzat Real Estate Development Company
K.P.S.C. (the “Parent Company”) and its Subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management of the Parent Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Independent auditors’ report
To the shareholders of
Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.P.S.C.
Kuwait
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.P.S.C. and its Subsidiaries as of 31 December 2015, and their financial
performance and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of directors relating
to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements
incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012 and its executive regulation, and by
the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was
duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012
and its executive regulation, nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association,
as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2015 that might have had a material effect on the
business or financial position of the Parent Company.

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CPA)					
(Licence No. 94-A)					
of Grant Thornton – Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners
		

Waleed A. Al-Osaimi
Licence No. 68-A
of EY Al Aiban, Al Osaimi & Partners

Kuwait
21th January 2016
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

Notes

Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended
31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

REVENUE
Rental income

3,338,533

2,589,935

Change in fair value of investment properties

13

(1,521,855)

1,258,791

Gain/(loss) on sale of investment properties

13

2,142,504

(185,094)

Gain on deemed disposal of financial assets available for sale

12

2,250,018

-

Distribution income from financial assets available for sale

353,524

132,947

Management and placement fees

233,769

202,143

Share of results of associates

14

653,754

958,237

Gain on bargain purchase of an associate

14

467,859

-

589,763

831,037

222,176

353,723

8,730,045

6,141,719

(1,101,087)

(855,778)

(866,065)

(756,468)

(59,847)

(46,769)

General and administrative expenses

(378,464)

(296,643)

Consultancy and professional fees

(170,494)

(173,277)

(1,670,675)

(1,560,897)

(1,148,829)

(879,204)

(41,094)

-

(5,436,555)

(4,569,036)

Foreign exchange gain
Other income, net

8

EXPENSES AND OTHER CHARGES
Real estate operating costs
Staff costs
Depreciation

Finance costs
Impairment of financial assets available for sale

12

Provision for doubtful debts
Profit for the year before contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the
Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), National Labour Support Tax (NLST),
Zakat and Directors’ remuneration

1,572,683
3,293,490

KFAS

(28,234)

-

NLST

(85,684)

(41,786)

Zakat

(32,843)

(16,687)

Directors’ remuneration
Profit for the year

(75,000)

-

3,071,729

1,514,210

3,074,326

1,516,936

(2,597)

(2,726)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests
Profit for the year

3,071,729

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

9

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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9.2 Fils

1,514,210
4.5 Fils  

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31st December 2015

Profit for the year

Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended
31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

3,071,729

1,514,210

255,441

86,240

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of
profit or loss:
Available for sale investments:
- Net changes in fair value
- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale

(2,250,018)

-

Foreign currency translation:
- Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Total comprehensive income

348,112

754,885

(1,646,465)

841,125

1,425,264

2,355,335

1,426,029

2,358,061

(765)

(2,726)

1,425,264

2,355,335

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 31st December 2015

Notes

31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec. 2014

KD

KD

Assets
Cash and bank balances

10

4,302,639

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets

11

5,112,168

5,533,272

Financial assets available for sale

12

7,910,671

16,013,358

Investment properties

13

52,446,830

59,071,466

Investment in associates

14

27,788,018

16,074,312

59,139

86,670

97,619,465

105,414,800

Property and equipment
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital

15

34,564,860

34,564,860

Share premium

15

2,869,130

2,869,130

Statutory reserve

16

7,690,662

7,361,052

Voluntary reserve

16

3,845,332

3,680,527

Treasury shares

17

(1,250,898)

(1,250,898)

Treasury shares reserve

4,471,471

4,471,471

Foreign currency translation reserve

1,629,562

1,283,282

431,417

2,425,994

Cumulative changes in fair value
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company

2,645,684

65,773

56,897,220

55,471,191

91,174

91,939

56,988,394

55,563,130

Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities

18

4,638,604

4,808,585

Bank loans

19

35,992,467

45,043,085

Total liabilities

40,631,071

49,851,670

Total equity and liabilities

97,619,465

105,414,800

Faisal Fahad Al-Shaya
Chairman

Mohammad Ibrahim Al-Farhan
Chief Executive Officer

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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-

-

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

Transferred to reserves
2,869,130

-

-

-

-

2,869,130

7,690,662

329,610

-

-

-

7,361,052

KD

Statutory
reserve

3,845,332

164,805

-

-

-

3,680,527

KD

Voluntary
reserve

(1,250,898)

-

-

-

-

(1,250,898)

KD

Treasury
shares

4,471,471

-

-

-

-

4,471,471

KD

Treasury
shares
reserve

1,629,562

-

346,280

346,280

-

1,283,282

KD

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

431,417

-

(1,994,577)

(1,994,577)

-

2,425,994

KD

Cumulative
changes in
fair value

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

34,564,860

-

Other comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

Balance at 31st December 2015

-

34,564,860

KD

KD

Profit/(loss) for the year

Balance at 1 January 2015

Share premium

Share
capital

For the year ended 31st December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

2,645,684

(494,415)

3,074,326

-

3,074,326

65,773

KD

Retained
earnings

56,897,220

-

1,426,029

(1,648,297)

3,074,326

55,471,191

KD

-Sub
total

91,174

-

(765)

1,832

(2,597)

91,939

KD

Non-controlling
interests

56,988,394

-

1,425,264

(1,646,465)

3,071,729

55,563,130

KD

Total
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-

-

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

Transferred to reserves

2,869,130

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,869,130

7,361,052

14,617

-

-

-

-

-

7,346,435

KD

Statutory
reserve

3,680,527

7,309

-

-

-

-

-

3,673,218

KD

Voluntary
reserve

(1,250,898)

-

-

-

-

(74,722)

(74,722)

(1,176,176)

KD

Treasury
shares

4,471,471

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,471,471

KD

Treasury
shares
reserve

1,283,282

-

754,885

754,885

-

-

-

528,397

KD

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

2,425,994

-

86,240

86,240

-

-

-

2,339,754

KD

Cumulative
changes in
fair value

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

34,564,860

-

Purchase of treasury shares

Balance at 31 December 2014

34,564,860

KD

KD

Balance at 1 January 2014

Share premium

Share
capital

For the year ended 31st December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

65,773

(21,926)

1,516,936

-

1,516,936

-

-

(1,429,237)

KD

Accu�)
mulated
losses)/
retained
earnings

55,471,191

-

2,358,061

841,125

1,516,936

(74,722)

(74,722)

53,187,852

KD

-Sub
total

91,939

-

(2,726)

-

(2,726)

-

-

94,665

KD

Non-controlling
interests

55,563,130

-

2,355,335

841,125

1,514,210

(74,722)

(74,722)

53,282,517

KD

Total

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

Note

Year ended 31
Dec.
2015
KD

Year ended
31 Dec.
2014
KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’
remuneration
Adjustments for:
Gain on deemed disposal of financial assets available for sale
Distribution income from financial assets available for sale
(Gain)/loss on sale of investment properties
Change in fair value of investment properties
Share of results of associates
Gain on bargain purchase of an associate
Profit from sale of property and equipment
Depreciation
Interest income
Finance costs
Impairment of financial assets available for sale

3,293,490

1,572,683

(2,250,018)
(353,524)
(2,142,504)
1,521,855
(653,754)
(467,859)
59,847
(235,292)
1,670,675
1,148,829
1,591,745

(132,947)
185,094
(1,258,791)
(958,237)
(1,980)
46,769
(165,206)
1,560,897
879,204
1,727,486

(66,106)
(391,742)
1,133,897

2,890,327
(564,521)
4,053,292

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of financial assets available for sale
Proceeds from redemption / sale of financial assets available for sale
Additions to investment properties
Proceeds on sale of investment properties
Acquisition of associates
Dividend received from associate
Disposal of investment in associates
Distribution income received from financial assets available for sale
Interest income received
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

(32,316)
(4,906,224)
1,409,468
(1,488,153)
9,789,547
(1,242,548)
532,705
603,018
353,524
235,292
5,254,313

(13,861)
1,980
(1,748,633)
305,362
(711,182)
5,900,438
(8,551,533)
132,947
165,206
(4,519,276)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of treasury shares
Proceed from bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Finance costs paid
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank balances
Cash and bank balances at beginning of the year
Cash and bank balances at end of the year

(9,050,618)
(1,670,675)
(10,721,293)
(4,333,083)
8,635,722
4,302,639

(74,722)
4,065,001
(1,560,897)
2,429,382
1,963,398
6,672,324
8,635,722

467,859
10,641,163
(11,109,022)

-

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and other assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash from operating activities

Non-cash transactions:
Gain on bargain purchase of an associate
Proceeds from redemption/sale of financial assets available for sale
Acquisition of associates

10
10

The notes set out on pages 34 to 67 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

1. INCORPORATE AND ACTIVITIES
Injazzat Real Estate Development Company (“the Parent Company”) is a Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company was
established on 9 August 1998 and listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange on 17 June 2002. The Parent Company is
primarily engaged in the following activities:
-

Ownership, purchasing, sale and development of all kinds of investment properties with exception to
residential properties inside and outside the state of Kuwait for the benefit of the Parent Company and on
the behalf of others.
- Ownership and sale of financial assets, bonds relating to real estate companies for the benefit of the Parent
Company alone inside and outside the State of Kuwait.
- Preparation and delivery of studies relating to real estate activities.
- Maintenance activities relating to the properties owned by the Parent Company including civil, mechanical,
electrical works and all required works to sustain the state of the properties.
- Organisation of real estate conventions relating to the Parent Company’s projects in accordance with the
regulations set out by the Ministry of Commerce.
- Hosting auctions.
- Ownership of malls and residential complexes and managing them.
- Ownership of hotels, health clubs, tourism related facilities and leasing and releasing them.
- Management, operating and leasing all types of investment properties.
- Establishment and management of real estate investment funds.
- It is permitted for the Parent Company to invest in managed funds managed by specialized managers.
The Group comprises Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.P.S.C. and its subsidiaries listed in Note 7.
The Parent Company’s registered address is PO Box 970, Safat 13010, State of Kuwait.
The consolidated financial statements of Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.P.S.C. (the “Parent Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 21 January 2016. The general assembly
of the shareholders of the Parent Company has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after
issuance.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under historical cost convention except for
financial assets available for sale and investment properties that have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”), which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Parent Company.

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements of the group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and applicable
requirements of Ministerial order No. 18 of 1990.

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE GROUP
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
Information on these new standards is presented below:
Standard or Interpretation
IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions -Amendments
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
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Effective for annual periods beginning
1 July 2014
1 July 2014
1 July 2014

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions from
employees or third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. In addition, it permits
a practical expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, in that
contributions, can, but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which
the related service is rendered.
The amendment did not have any material impact to the group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle:
(i) IFRS 2 Share-based payment- This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the
definitions of performance ad service conditions which are vesting conditions.

(ii) Amendments to IFRS 3-Contingent consideration that does not meet the definition of an equity instrument is
subsequently measured at each reporting date fair value, with changes recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

(iii) Amendments to IFRS 13- The addition to the Basis for Conclusions confirms the existing measurement treatment
of short-term receivables and payables.
(iv) Amendments to IFRS 8- Disclosures are required regarding judgements made by management in aggregating
operating segments (i.e. description, economic indicators). A reconciliation of reportable segments’ assets to total
entity assets is required if this is regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker.
(v) Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38- When items are revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted on a consistent
basis to the revaluation of the net carrying amount.
(vi) Amendments to IAS 24- Entities that provide key management personnel services to a reporting entity, or the
reporting entity’s parent, are considered to be related parties of the reporting entity.

The amendment did not have any material impact to the group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle
(i) Amendments to IFRS 1-the amendment to the Basis for Conclusions clarifies that an entity preparing its IFRS
financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1 is able to use both:
• IFRSs that are currently effective
• IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, that permits early adoption
The same version of each IFRS must be applied to all periods presented.
(ii) Amendments to IFRS 3- IFRS 3 is not applied to the formation of a joint arrangement in the financial statements
of the joint arrangement itself.
(iii) Amendments to IFRS 13- the scope of the portfolio exemption (IFRS 13.52) includes all items that have offsetting
positions in market and/or counterparty credit risk that are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39/
IFRS 9, irrespective of whether they meet the definition of a financial asset/liability.
iv) Amendments to IAS 40 - Clarifying the interrelationship of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when classifying property as an
investment property or owner-occupied property
The amendment did not have any material impact to the group’s consolidated financial statements.
4.2 IASB STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the group.
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.2 IASB STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the group’s accounting policies
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new standards,
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the group’s consolidated financial statements is
provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a
material impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements.
Standard or Interpretation

Effective for annual periods
beginning

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments

1 January 2016

IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations -Amendments

1 January 2016

IFRS 16 Leases

1 January 2019

IAS 1 ‘Disclosure Initiative – Amendments

1 January 2016

IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants - Amendments

1 January 2016

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation - Amendments

1 January 2016

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements - Amendments

1 January 2016

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception - Amendments

1 January 2016

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle

1 July 2016

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB recently released IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its project to replace
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The new standard introduces extensive changes to
IAS 39’s guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit
loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application of hedge
accounting.
Management has started to assess the impact of IFRS 9 but is not yet in a position to provide quantified information.
At this stage the main areas of expected impact are as follows:
• the classification and measurement of the group’s financial assets will need to be reviewed based on the new
criteria that considers the assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in which they are managed
• an expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the group’s receivables and investments in
debt-type assets currently classified as loans and receivable and available for sale, unless classified as at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with the new criteria
• it will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such investments will
instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be presented in profit or loss unless the group makes
an irrevocable designation to present them in other comprehensive income.
• if the Group continues to elect the fair value option for certain financial liabilities, fair value movements will be
presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes relate to the group’s own credit risk.
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.2 IASB STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 11 Revenues and provides a new control-based revenue recognition model using five-step
approach to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are as follows:
• Identify the contract with the customer.
• Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
• Determine the transaction price.
• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts.
• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
The standard includes important guidance, such as
• Contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods or services – when to account separately for the individual
performance obligations in a multiple element arrangement, how to allocate the transaction price, and when to
combine contracts.
• timing – whether revenue is required to be recognized over time or at a single point in time.
• variable pricing and credit risk – addressing how to treat arrangements with variable or contingent (e.g.
performance-based) pricing, and introducing an overall constraint on revenue.
• time value – when to adjust a contract price for a financing component.
• specific issues, including –
* non-cash consideration and asset exchanges
* contract costs
* rights of return and other customer options
* supplier repurchase options
* warranties
* principal versus agent
* licencing
* breakage
* non-refundable upfront fees, and
* consignment and bill-and-hold arrangement.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint
venture, as follows:
• require full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or contribution
of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
• require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss
is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of
assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in an subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of
the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations - Amendments

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements require an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the
activity constitutes a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations) to apply all of the business combinations
accounting principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except for those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11.
It also requires disclosure of the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations.
The amendments apply both to the initial acquisition of an interest in joint operation, and the acquisition of
an additional interest in a joint operation (in the latter case, previously held interests are not remeasured). The
amendments apply prospectively to acquisitions of interests in joint operations.

www.injazzat.com

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

37

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.2 IASB STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)

IFRS 16 Leases

The new Standard requires lessees to account for leases ‘on-balance sheet’ by recognising a ‘right of use’ asset
and a lease liability. It will affect most companies that report under IFRS and are involved in leasing, and will have
a substantial impact on the financial statements of lessees of property and high value equipment. For many other
businesses, however, exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value assets will reduce the impact.

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 1 make the following changes:
• M
 ateriality: The amendments clarify that (1) information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing
immaterial information, (2) materiality considerations apply to the all parts of the financial statements, and (3) even
when a standard requires a specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply.
• Statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: The amendments
(1) introduce a clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can be disaggregated and
aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements and (2) clarify that an entity’s share
of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate as single line items
based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.
• Notes: The amendments add additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that understandability
and comparability should be considered when determining the order of the notes and to demonstrate that the notes need
not be presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114 of IAS 1. The IASB also removed guidance and examples with
regard to the identification of significant accounting policies that were perceived as being potentially unhelpful.

IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture have been made to:
• include ‘bearer plants’ within the scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41, allowing such assets to be accounted for a
property, plant and equipment and measured after initial recognition on a cost or revaluation basis in accordance
with IAS 16.
• introduce a definition of ‹bearer plants› as a living plant that is used in the production or supply of agricultural
produce, is expected to bear produce for more than one period and has a remote likelihood of being sold as
agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales.
• clarify that produce growing on bearer plants remains within the scope of IAS 41.

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation - Amendments

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets address the following matters:
• a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset is
not appropriate for property, plant and equipment.
• an amortisation method that is based on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an intangible
asset is generally inappropriate except for limited circumstances.
• expected future reductions in the selling price of an item that was produced using an asset could indicate the
expectation of technological or commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction of
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements permit investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates to be optionally accounted for using the equity method in separate financial statements.

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 ‘Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception - Amendments
The Amendments are aimed at clarifying the following aspects:
• Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements. The amendments confirm that the exemption from
preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent entity is available to a parent entity that is a
subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.
• A subsidiary providing services that relate to the parent’s investment activities. A subsidiary that provides services
related to the parent’s investment activities should not be consolidated if the subsidiary itself is an investment
entity.
• Application of the equity method by a non-investment entity investor to an investment entity investee. When
applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity investor in an investment
entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.
• Disclosures required. An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the disclosures
relating to investment entities required by IFRS 12.
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.2 IASB STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle
(i) Amendments to IFRS 5 - Adds specific guidance in IFRS 5 for cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from held
for sale to held for distribution or vice versa and cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued.
(ii) Amendments to IFRS 7 - Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in
a transferred asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in consolidated financial statements.
(iii) Amendments to IAS 19 - Clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for
post-employment benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid.
(iv) Amendments to IAS 34 - Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a cross-reference.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out
below:
5.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The group controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The financial statements
of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months from that of
the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of any significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent Company’s financial
statements.
All transactions and balances between group’s companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group’s companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with
the accounting policies adopted by the group.
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised
from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.
Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the group. The group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries
between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.
When a controlling interest in the subsidiaries is disposed of, the difference between the selling price and the net
asset value plus cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
Changes in the group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Parent Company.
5.2 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred
by the group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group, which includes the fair value of any asset
or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. For
each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

www.injazzat.com

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

39

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.2 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of
whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
When the group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at
the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the sum
of (i) fair value of consideration transferred, (ii) the recognised amount of any non controlling interest in the acquiree
and (iii) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values
of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess
amount (ie gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss immediately.
5.3 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue
can be reliably measured, regardless of when payment is made. The group applies the revenue recognition criteria set
out below to each separately identifiable component of revenue.

5.3.1 Rental income

Rental income is recognised on accrual basis.

5.3.2 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

5.3.3 Management and placement fee income

Management and placement fees are recognised when related services are rendered. Other fees are recognised when
earned.

5.3.4 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
5.4 OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the
date of their origin.
5.5 BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.
5.6 TAXATION

5.6.1 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company in accordance
with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income
from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded
from profit for the year when determining the contribution.

5.6.2 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated at 2.5% of the profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company in accordance with Law No.
19 of 2000 and the Ministry of Finance resolutions No. 24 of 2006.

5.6.3 Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year attributable to Parent Company in accordance with
the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.7 SEGMENT REPORTING
The group has two operating segments: (i) domestic, (ii) international. In identifying these operating segments,
management generally follows the group’s service lines representing its main products and services. Each of these
operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches and other resources. All intersegment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices. For management purposes, the group uses the same
measurement policies as those used in its consolidated financial statements.
5.8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the
cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria
are met; and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Fair values are estimated by management with the assistance of valuation
provided by accredited external valuers.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of
change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.
5.9 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, including any costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by the group’s management.
Property and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual
value. The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period
of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits arising from items of property and
equipment. The following useful lives are applied:
- Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 3-5 years
Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.
When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any
gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
5.10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
Associates are those entities over which the group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted
for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the group’s share in the associate
is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in associates.
Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to recognise
the group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the group.
Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment.
The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the group is not more than three months. Adjustments are
made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the group’s
consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the group measures and recognises any retaining investment
at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and
the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
5.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5.11.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those
carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value.
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:
• r ights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;
• the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement and either:
(a) t he group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b) the group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred
control of the asset.
Where the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through
arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.11.2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:
• Loans and receivables
• Financial assets available for sale.
All financial assets are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine
impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described below.
• Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not considered to be individually
impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region of
a counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics. The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent
historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.
The group categorises loans and receivables into following categories:

Accounts receivable and other assets

Accounts receivable and other assets are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for any uncollectible
amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts
are written off as incurred.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5.11.2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (CONTINUED)
Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and bank balances, that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
• Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do
not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.
Financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.
Impairment charges are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. All other financial assets available
for sale are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and reported
within the fair value reserve within equity, except for impairment losses, and foreign exchange differences on
monetary assets, which are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. When the asset is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from the equity reserve to consolidated statement of profit or loss and presented as a reclassification adjustment
within other comprehensive income.
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset available for sale
or a group of financial assets available for sale is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as financial
assets available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
equity investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for financial assets that
are debt securities which are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss only if the reversal can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

5.11.3 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and other liabilities and bank loans.
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
• Accounts payable and other liabilities
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed or not.
• Bank loans
Bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.
5.12 TRADE AND SETTLEMENT DATE ACCOUNTING
All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the entity
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
5.13 OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
5.14 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.14 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.
5.15 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF NON FINANCIAL ASSETS
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine the
value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a
suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing
procedures are directly linked to the group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of
future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating
unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.
Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that cashgenerating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With
the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount
exceeds its carrying amount.
5.16 EQUITY, RESERVES AND DIVIDEND PAYMENTS
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.
Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with
the requirements of the companies’ law and the Parent Company’s articles of association and memorandum of
incorporation.
Other components of equity include the following:
• Foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation
of financial statements of the group’s foreign entities into Kuwaiti Dinars (KD)
• Cumulative changes in fair value – comprises gains and losses relating to financial assets available for sale.
Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits and losses. All transactions with owners of the
parent are recorded separately within equity.
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been
approved in a general assembly meeting.
5.17 TREASURY SHARES
Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the group and not
yet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for under cost method. Under this method, the weighted
average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. Treasury shares are not entitled to cash
dividends that the group may distribute. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the number of treasury shares
proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.
When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are recorded directly in “Treasury shares reserve” in the shareholders’
equity. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any
excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve and legal reserve. Subsequent to this,
should profits arise from sale of treasury shares an amount is transferred to reserves and retained earnings equal to
the loss previously charged to this account.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.18 END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
The group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period in accordance
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result
of termination on the reporting date
With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the group makes contributions to the Public Institution for Social
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The group’s obligations are limited to these contributions,
which are expensed when due.
5.19 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
5.19.1 Functional and presentation currency
Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
5.19.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective group entity, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items denominated
in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Nonmonetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange
rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
5.19.3 Foreign operations
In the group’s consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of group entities with a
functional currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the
entities in the group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.
On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date. Goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD
at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive
income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit
or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
5.20 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the group and amounts can be estimated
reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present
obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their
present values, where the time value of money is material.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.21 Related party transactions
Related parties consist of directors, executive officers, their close family members and companies which they are
principal owners. All related party transactions are approved by management.
5.22 Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the group and accordingly are not included
in these consolidated financial statements.

6. SIGNIFICANT MANAGEMENT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected
in future periods.
6.1 SIGNIFICANT MANAGEMENT JUDGMENTS
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant judgments,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

6.1.1 Classification of real estate property

Management decides on acquisition of real estate whether it should be classified as held for sale or investment
property. Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are subsequently measured at cost or
net realisable value whichever is lower or at fair value.
The Group classifies property as held for sale if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of business.
The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

6.1.2 Classification of financial instruments

Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at acquisition.
The group classifies financial assets as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short term
profit making.
Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the group is unable to trade
these financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or determinable payments the
financial asset is classified as loans and receivables.
All other financial assets are classified as available for sale.

6.1.3 Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired

The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as a result of business combination
requires significant judgement.

6.1.4 Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the group has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities and ability to
use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.
6.2 ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different
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6. SIGNIFICANT MANAGEMENT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
6.2 ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

6.2.1 Impairment of associates
After application of the equity method, the group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss on the group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on existence of any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and
recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.2.2 Impairment of financial assets available for sale

The group treats financial assets available for sale as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment.

6.2.3 Impairment of trade receivables

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts
which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied
according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

6.2.4 Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the
utility of certain software and equipment.

6.2.5 Business combinations

Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business
combination. Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many variables
that affect future profitability.

6.2.6 Revaluation of investment properties

The group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair values are estimated by management with the assistance of valuation
provided external valuers who have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values.

6.2.7 Fair value of financial instruments
Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market
quotes are not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is not
observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the
actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.
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7. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Details of subsidiaries and the group’s ownership are set out below:
Country of
incorporation

Name of subsidiary

Ownership
percentage
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

Principal
activities

Injazzat Entertainment Enterprises – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

Entertainment
and Tourism
Projects

Injazzat Real Estate – France

France

100%

100%

Real Estate

Dhow Real Estate Company - B.S.C. (Closed)

Bahrain

100%

100%

Real Estate

Al-Dhow International Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

Real Estate

Al Mal and Aqar Joint Project Company – W.L.L.

Kuwait

100%

100%

Real Estate

Al Quoz International General Trading and Contracting
Company – W.L.L.

Kuwait

60%

60%

General Trading
and Contracting

Injazzat Lusail Company – W.L.L.

Kuwait

99%

99%

General Trading
and Contracting

Amwaj Real Estate Development Company – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

Real Estate

UAE

100%

100%

Real Estate

Luxemburg

100%

100%

Real Estate

Al Bateel Real Estate Company – L.L.C.
Injazzat S.A.R.L.

- The financial year end of all the above subsidiaries is 31 December except for Injazzat Real Estate – (France) which
has a financial year end of 30 September.
- The financial statement of Injazzat S. A. R. L. has been consolidated based on financial statements as at 30 September
2015 prepared by the management of that subsidiary.

8. OTHER INCOME, NET
Year ended 31
Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Interest income from cash and bank balances

60,371

4,411

Interest income from accounts receivable

174,921

165,206

Other (loss)/income

(13,116)

184,106

222,176

353,723

9. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year less treasury shares. As there
are no dilutive instruments outstanding basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.
Year ended 31
Dec.
2015
Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury
shares)
Basic and diluted earnings per share
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Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

3,074,326

1,516,936

333,658,776

334,165,029

9.2 Fils

4.5 Fils

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st December 2015

10. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
cash flows consist of the following:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD
1,270

-

Current accounts

2,612,927

8,193,960

Call accounts

1,688,442

441,762

4,302,639

8,635,722

Cash on hand

Call accounts are carried interest rate varying between of 0.5% to 1% (2014: 0.5% to 1%) per annum.

11. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS
31 Dec.

31 Dec.

2015

2014

KD

KD

Financial assets
Due from an associate company (Note 20)
Due from other related parties (Note 20)
Due on sale of investment property (Note 11)
Other financial assets

152,162

352,759

10,991

348,637

3,933,428

3,794,063

690,265

436,024

4,786,846

4,931,483

12,136

18,765

313,186

583,024

325,322

601,789

5,112,168

5,533,272

Non-financial assets
Advances to contractors
Prepayment and other assets

Due on sale of investment property represents receivables which yield an effective interest rate of 4.5% (2014:
4.5%) per annum.
The Group does not have any material impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Real estate funds

31 Dec.

31 Dec.

2015

2014

KD

KD
-

87,205

1,157,341

3,215,714

Unquoted real estate equity investments

3,589,973

10,876,496

Debt financing

3,163,357

1,833,943

7,910,671

16,013,358

Special purposes real estate entities
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12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE (CONTINUED)
Financial assets available for sale primarily represent investments in real estate development projects and portfolios
through specialised real estate investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the unpredictability of
their cash flows and the absence of an active market for these investments, fair value is not reliably measurable. As
a result, such investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any, and the carrying amount of such investments
amounted to KD6,919,765 (2014: KD6,613,207).
Financial assets available for sale include investments with a carrying value of KD4,496,441 (2014: KD3,688,547)
which represent investments in real estate entities in which the Group has an equity interest exceeding 20% and
50%. These entities represent temporary special purpose entities established to facilitate the Group’s investments in
certain foreign real estate projects. The Group does not exercise control or significant influence over these entities
as they are managed by independent specialist property development managers. As a result investments in these
entities have been classified as financial assets available for sale.
During the year, the Group recorded an impairment loss of KD1,148,829 (2014: KD879,204) on certain financial
assets available for sale. Management has performed and analysis of the underlying financial assets available for sale
which indicate that there is no further impairment.
Investment amounting to KD10,641,163 has been reclassified from financial assets available for sale to investment in
associates (Note 14). The reclassification resulted in a gain of KD2,250,018.
The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation techniques is
presented in Note 25.
Financial assets available for sale with a carrying value of KD Nil (2014: KD6,994,747) are secured against bank loans
(Note 19).

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The movement in investment properties during the year is as follows:

At 1 January

31 Dec.

31 Dec.

2015

2014

KD

KD

59,071,466

62,188,407

Additions

1,488,153

711,182

Disposals

(7,647,043)

(6,085,532)

Change in fair value

(1,521,855)

1,258,791

Foreign currency translation adjustment

1,056,109

998,618

52,446,830

59,071,466

31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec. 2014

KD

KD

Kuwait

8,500,000

8,500,000

Other GCC countries

43,946,830

50,571,466

52,446,830

59,071,466

At 31 December

The Group’s investment properties are located as follows:

a) Investment property with a carrying value of KD3,974,832 (2014: KD4,832,438) is held in the name of nominees.
The nominees have confirmed in writing that the Parent Company is the beneficial owner of the properties.
Investment properties include jointly controlled investment properties with a carrying value of KD9,410,023
(2014: KD16,489,720).
b) Investment properties with a carrying value of KD41,880,111 (2014: KD45,804,228) are secured against the bank
loans (Note 19).
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
c) D
 uring the year, the Group has disposed an investment property with a carrying value of KD7,647,043 (2014:
KD6,085,532) for a consideration of KD9,789,547 (2014: KD5,900,438) which resulted in a gain on sale of
investment property of KD2,142,504 (2014: loss KD185,094).
d) Note 25.3 sets out how the fair value of the investment properties has been determined.

14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

14.1 Details of the Group’s associates are set out below:
Name of associate

Country of
incorporation

Ownership percentage
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

Principal activities

Ikaros Real Estate Company K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

45%

45%

Real Estate

Al Bersha Real Estate Company K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

35%

35%

Real Estate

Al Yal Real Estate Company W.L.L.

Bahrain

50%

50%

Real Estate

UAE

25%

15%

Real Estate

Al Sanbook Real Estate L.L.C.*

Bahrain

50%

50%

Real Estate

Injazzat Real Estate Company L.L.C.

Saudi Arabia

20%

20%

Real Estate

Cancorp Duisburg S.A.R.L.

Luxemburg

50%

50%

Real Estate

Bahrain

27.75%

-

Real Estate

Al Yal Seef Residence Company W.L.L.

First Real Estate Company – B.S.C. (Closed)**

* T
 he investment in Al Sanbook Real Estate L.L.C. is classified as investment in associate because the Group
exercises significant influence over this company through agreements entered with other strategic investors.
During the year, the group acquired an additional 10% for a total consideration of KD850,428.
** During the three months ended 31 December 2015, the group acquired an additional 8.9% interest in First
Real Estate Company – BSC (Closed) located in Kingdom of Bahrain for a total consideration of KD3,102,346
accordingly, the group reclassified this investment amounting to KD10,641,163, representing 27.75% ownership
interest, from financial assets available for sale to investment in associate as the group’s management was able to
exercise significant influence over the investee. The reclassification of the investment as an associate resulted in
provisional bargain purchase of KD467,859. The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities as
at the date of acquisition of the above investee are as follows:
KD
Total assets

62,997,783

Total liabilities

22,958,094

Net assets

40,039,689

Purchase consideration

10,641,163

Share of net assets acquired

(11,109,022)

Bargain purchase

(467,859)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired have been provisionally determined by the management
of the group. The estimates referred to above, and resultant bargain purchase, are subject to revision within twelve
months of the acquisition date.
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
The movement in investment in associates is as follows:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

At 1 January

16,074,312

6,357,466

Additions

12,351,570

12,441,042

Disposals

(603,018)

(3,889,510)

Dividends

(532,705)

-

653,754

958,237

(155,895)

207,077

27,788,018

16,074,312

Share of results for the year
Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 December

The fair value of investment in associates could not be reliably measured as the associates are unquoted and they do
not have published quoted prices.
As at 31 December 2015, investment in associates with a carrying value of KD12,224,258 (2014: KD2,813,816) are
secured against the bank loans (Note 19).
14.2 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S MATERIAL ASSOCIATES ARE SET OUT BELOW:
a) Al Bersha Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed) :
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

9,975,999

Non - current assets

402,661

347,139

Total assets

10,378,660

10,323,521

Non - current liabilities

3,400,000

3,400,000

346,594

280,361

Current assets

Current liabilities
Total liabilities

3,746,594

3,680,361

Net assets

6,632,066

6,643,160

Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Revenue

662,404

1,199,783

Profit for the year

408,718

578,269

408,718

578,269

Total comprehensive income for the year
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

14.2 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S MATERIAL ASSOCIATES ARE SET OUT
BELOW:(CONTINUED)
a) Al Bersha Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed) : (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is give below:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

35%

35%

Net assets of the associate

6,632,066

6,643,160

Group’s share of net assets

2,321,223

2,325,106

Carrying amount

2,321,223

2,325,106

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Current assets

2,184,478

2,199,043

Total assets

2,184,478

2,199,043

Current liabilities

28,437

18,084

Total liabilities

28,437

18,084

2,156,041

2,180,959

Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Group’s ownership interest (%)

b) Ikaros Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed):

Net assets

-

2,162,816

(Loss)/profit for the year

(24,918)

2,035,322

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(24,918)

2,035,322

Revenue

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is give below:

Group’s ownership interest (%)

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD
45%

45%

Net assets of the associate

2,156,041

2,180,959

Group’s share of net assets

970,218

981,432

Carrying amount

970,218

981,432
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

14.2 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S MATERIAL ASSOCIATES ARE SET OUT
BELOW:(CONTINUED)
c) Al Yal Seef Residence Company W.L.L.:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

8,082,960

Non - current assets
Current assets
Total assets

7,781,910

504,199

249,056

8,587,159

8,030,966

Non - current liabilities

350,605

1,047,948

Total liabilities

350,605

1,047,948

8,236,554

6,983,018

Net assets

Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Revenue

825,355

535,626

Profit for the year

626,528

459,228

Total comprehensive income for the year

626,528

459,228

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is give below:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Group’s ownership interest (%)

50%

50%

Net assets of the associate

8,236,554

6,983,018

Group’s share of net assets

4,118,277

3,491,509

Carrying amount

4,118,277

3,491,509

d) Al Yal Real Estate Company - W.L.L.:

Non - current assets

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

6,881,625

6,563,783

28,116

364,084

6,909,741

6,927,867

-

-

Current liabilities

10,205

346,433

Total liabilities

10,205

346,433

6,899,536

6,581,434

Current assets
Total assets
Non - current liabilities

Net assets
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

14.2 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S MATERIAL ASSOCIATES ARE SET OUT
BELOW:(CONTINUED)
d) Al Yal Real Estate Company - W.L.L.: (continued)
Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD
-

-

Loss for the year

(714)

(13,377)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(714)

(13,377)

Revenue

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is give below:

Group’s ownership interest (%)

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD
50%

50%

Net assets of the associate

6,899,536

6,581,434

Group’s share of net assets

3,449,768

3,290,717

Carrying amount

3,449,768

3,290,717

e) First Real Estate Company – B.S.C. (Closed):
31 Dec.
2015
KD
Non - current assets

58,332,898

Current assets

4,932,678

Total assets

63,265,576

Non - current liabilities

21,388,233

Current liabilities

1,362,033

Total liabilities

22,750,266

Net assets

40,515,310
Year ended
31 Dec.
2015
KD

Revenue

3,729,064

Profit for the year

239,629
239,629

Total comprehensive profit for the year
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

14.2 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S MATERIAL ASSOCIATES ARE SET OUT
BELOW:(CONTINUED)
e) First Real Estate Company – B.S.C. (Closed): (continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is give below:
31 Dec.
2015
KD
Group’s ownership interest

27.7%

Net assets of the associate

40,515,310

Group’s share of net assets

11,240,973

Carrying amount

11,240,973

14.3 Set out below is the aggregate financial information for the group’s individually immaterial associates.

Group’s share of results
Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(loss)
Aggregate carrying amount of group’s interest in these associates

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

142,525

(382,978)

142,525

(382,978)

5,687,557

5,985,548

15. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

At 31 December 2015, the authorised, issued and fully paid share capital in cash of the Parent Company comprised
345,648,600 shares of 100 fils each (2014: 345,648,600 shares of 100 fils each). Share premium is not available for
distribution.

16. RESERVES

As required by the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association and Memorandum of
Incorporation, 10% of profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS,
NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration and after offsetting accumulated losses brought forward, is transferred to
statutory reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals or
exceeds 50% of paid-up share capital.
Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of
paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the distribution of a dividend
of that amount.
In accordance with the Parent Company’s Articles of Association and Memorandum of Incorporation, 5% of the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat, NLST and
directors’ remuneration and after offsetting accumulated losses brought forward is transferred to voluntary reserve.
The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such transfers to voluntary reserve by a resolution of the Parent
Company’s Board of Directors. There are no restrictions on distribution of voluntary reserve provided the distribution
is approved by the shareholders general assembly.
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17. TREASURY SHARES

The details of treasury shares are as follows:
31 Dec.
2014

31 Dec.
2015
Cost - KD

1,250,898

1,250,898

Number of treasury shares

11,989,824

11,989,824

Percentage of capital

3.47%

3.47%

Market value – KD

959,186

755,359

Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available for distribution.

18. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Due to an associate company (Note 20)
Rental income received in advance
Accrued expenses

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

389,625

650,378

1,144,421

1,094,600

288,785

537,429

1,116,322

822,601

-

386,373

1,699,451

1,317,204

4,638,604

4,808,585

Due to other related parties (Note 20)
Other liabilities

19. BANK LOANS
Effective interest
rate

Local banks – Kuwaiti Dinar

CBK discount rate
+ 1.5% to 2.5%

Security

Secured

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

35,992,467

45,043,085

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

The loans are due for repayment as follows:

Within one year

4,525,308

4,504,308

Over one year

31,467,159

40,538,777

35,992,467

45,043,085

The loans are secured by certain financial assets available for sale, investment properties and investments in
associates of the Group (Notes 12, 13 & 14). Banks loans are payable on various instalments ending on 1 April 2018.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties represent the major shareholders, associates, directors, entities under common control and key
management personnel of the Group and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group
are principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control. Pricing policies and
terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.
Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:
31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

152,162

352,759

10,991

348,637

3,933,428

-

-

386,373

1,144,421

1,094,600

Balances in the consolidated statement of financial position:
Due from an associate company (Note 11)
Due from other related parties (Note 11)
Due on sale investment property (Note 11)
Due to other related parties (Note 18)
Due to an associate company (Note 18)

Due from/to other related parties represents entities under common control.
Transaction included in the statement of profit or loss:
Year ended
31 Dec.
2015

Year ended 31
Dec.
2014

KD

KD

293,326

296,336

34,615

34,615

327,941

330,951

Key management remunerations:
Salaries and short-term benefits
Employees’ end of service benefits

21. PROPOSED DIVIDENDS AND ANNUAL GENERAL ASSEMBLY

Subsequent to the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the board of directors have proposed
to distribute cash dividend of 5 fils per share amounting to KD1,728,243 and directors’ remuneration of KD75,000
(2014: KD Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2015. This proposal is subject to the approval of the general assembly
and the regulatory authorities.
Annual General Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 23 March 2015 approved the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and directors’ proposal not to distribute any
dividends or directors’ remuneration for the year then ended.
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2,250,018
353,524

-

Gain on deemed disposal of financial assets available for sale

Distribution income from financial assets available for sale

467,859
-

589,763

Other income, net

(12,233)
(121,267)

(47,614)
(257,197)

Depreciation

General and administrative expenses

(2,303)
(1,148,829)
(41,094)

(1,668,372)
-

Provision for doubtful debts

Capital expenditure

-

-

-

40,631,071

38,886,632

Total liabilities

1,744,439

3,071,729
97,619,465

19,651,587

Total assets

(5,658,316)

(75,000)

(146,761)

(41,094)

(1,148,829)

(1,670,675)

(170,494)

(378,464)

(59,847)

(866,065)

(1,101,087)

8,730,045

222,176

589,763

467,859

653,754

233,769

353,524

2,250,018

2,142,504

(1,521,855)

3,338,533

KD

Total

Profit for the year
77,967,878

(2,438,229)

(75,000)
(3,220,087)

Directors’ remuneration

Total expenses and other charges

-

(146,761)

KFAS, NLST and Zakat

Finance costs

Impairment of financial assets available for sale

Consultancy and professional fees

(40,240)

(1,072,263)

(28,824)
(866,065)

Staff costs

Real estate operating costs

(130,254)

51,397
7,139,512

170,779

Total income

1,590,533

Gain on bargain purchase of an associate

)Foreign exchange gain/(loss

Share of results of associates

Management and placement fees

173,769

2,142,504

-

Gain/(loss) on sale of investment properties

532,743

(1,521,855)

-

121,011

2,689,553

648,980

Change in fair value of investment properties

60,000

KD

KD

Rental income

International

Domestic

31 December 2015

-

47,965,630

24,395,687

(2,849,917)

-

(58,473)

-

-

(1,559,623)

(136,290)

(266,757)

(45,151)

(756,468)

(27,155)

3,459,858

203,818

927,738

-

1,118,289

-

-

-

-

561,033

648,980

KD

Domestic

711,182

1,886,130

81,019,113

(1,777,592)

-

-

-

(879,204)

(1,274)

(36,987)

(29,886)

(1,618)

-

(828,623)

2,681,861

149,905

(96,701)

-

(160,052)

202,143

132,947

-

(185,094)

697,758

1,940,955

KD

International

31 December 2014

711,182

49,851,760

105,414,800

1,514,210

(4,627,509)

-

(58,473)

-

(879,204)

(1,560,897)

(173,277)

(296,643)

(46,769)

(756,468)

(855,778)

6,141,719

353,723

831,037

-

958,237

202,143

132,947

-

(185,094)

1,258,791

2,589,935

KD

Total

For management purposes, the Group’s activities are concentrated in real estate investments. The Group’s activities are concentrated in two main segments: Domestic
(Kuwait) and International (Kingdom of Bahrain, United Arab Emirates, Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Europe and USA). The Group’s segments information are as follows:

22. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For the year ended 31st December 2015
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23. Fiduciary assets

Fiduciary assets comprise investments managed on behalf of clients amounting to KD48,270 (2014: KD 51,783).

24. Risk management objectives and policies

Risk is inherent in the group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement
and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the group’s
continuing profitability and each individual within the group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or
her responsibilities.
The group has various financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, bank balances and investment
securities. The group’s principal financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and other liabilities and bank loans.
The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for group’s operations.
The group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Parent Company’s Board of Directors is ultimately responsible to set out policies and strategies for management of risks.
The group does not use derivative financial instruments.
The most significant financial risks to which the group is exposed are described below.
24.1 MARKET RISK
a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates.
The group mainly operates in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), Europe and the United States of America (USA)
and is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various foreign currency exposures. The group’s financial position
can be significantly affected by the movement in these currencies.
To mitigate the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored in accordance
with the group’s risk management policies. The groups’ financial position can be significantly affected by the
movement in these currencies.
The group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities at the
financial position date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:

US Dollar

31 Dec.
2015
Equivalent

31 Dec.
2014
Equivalent

KD

KD

1,201,530

369,858

Euro

874,183

79,189

GBP

482,185

488,403

4,381,242

3,695,858

UAE Dirham

The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 2% (2014: 2%) increase and decrease in the KD against above
foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated monetary assets
and liabilities and adjusts their translation at the yearend for a 2% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates an increase in profit and a negative number indicates decrease in profit. There is no impact on the
group’s other comprehensive income. All other variables are held constant. There has been no change in the methods
and the assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis.
+2 % Impact

+2 % Impact

-2 % Impact

-2 % Impact

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

31 Dec.
2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

KD

KD

138,783

Results for the year

92,666

(138,783)

(92,666)

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions.
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk.
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
24.1 MARKET RISK (CONTINUED)

b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair
values of financial instruments. The group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to bank loans.
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the results for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates of +100 bps (1%) and –100 bps (1%) (2014: +100 bps (1%) and –100bps (1%)) with effect from the beginning
of the year. The calculations are based on the group’s financial instruments held at each financial position date. All
other variables are held constant. There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used
in preparing the sensitivity analysis.
31 Dec. 2014

31 Dec. 2015

Results for the year

+1%

-1 %

+1%

-1 %

KD

KD

KD

KD

359,925

(359,925)

450,431

(450,431)

c) Price risk
The group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments are classified
as financial assets available for sale.
To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification
of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the group.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting
date. There have been no changes during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis.
If equity prices had been 10% (2014: 10%) higher/lower, the effect on equity would have been as follows, there is
no impact on the group’s results for the year:
Equity

Financial assets available for sale

31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec. 2014

KD

KD

±90,091

±940,015

24.2 CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. The group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.
The group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations
or business through diversification of its activities.
The group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the financial
position date, as summarized below:
As at 31 December 2015, the maximum credit exposure to a single counter party amounted to KD3,933,428 (2014:
KD3,794,063), which is secured by investment property registered in the group’s name.
31 Dec.
2015
KD

31 Dec.
2014
KD

Cash and bank balances (Note 10)

4,301,369

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 11)

4,786,846

4,931,483

Financial assets available for sale (Note 12)

4,138,222

3,270,697

13,226,437

16,837,902
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
24.2 CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

The group’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired for each
of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.
The credit risk for bank balances is considered negligible, since the counterparties are financial institution with high
credit quality. Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is set out in note 24.3.
24.3 CONCENTRATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The distribution of financial assets by geographic region for 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
GCC

Europe

USA

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

At 31 December 2015
Cash and bank balances (Note 10)

1,898,092

1,323,261

1,080,016

4,301,369

Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 11)

4,604,772

1,129

180,945

4,786,846

-

4,138,222

-

4,138,222

6,502,864

5,462,612

1,260,961

13,226,437

Cash and bank balances (Note 10)

7,736,699

534,331

364,692

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 11)

4,770,398

-

161,085

4,931,483

Financial assets available for sale (Note 12)

At 31 December 2014

Financial assets available for sale (Note 12)

-

3,270,697

-

3,270,697

12,507,097

3,805,028

525,777

16,837,902

24.4 LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this risk, the
Parent Company’s management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and
monitors liquidity on a regular basis.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
repayment obligations.
The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future interest payments
over the life of these financial liabilities. The liquidity profile of financial liabilities is as follows:
Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3-12
months

Over
1 year

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

31 December 2015
Financial liabilities:
157,040

707,227

427,411

1,282,232

39,001,848

40,711,491

3,149,883

584,451

1,989,459

39,626,302

45,350,095

Accounts payable and other liabilities

3,023,236

493,040

608,150

Bank loans

4,504,308

405,388

1,216,163

44,423,742

50,549,601

7,527,544

898,428

1,824,313

45,107,901

55,358,186

Accounts payable and other liabilities

3,149,883
-

Bank loans

624,454

4,638,604

31 December 2014
Financial liabilities:
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
24.4 LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for financial assets
available for sale investments and investment properties, the maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined
on the basis of the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile
for financial assets available for sale investments and investment properties is determined based on management’s
planned exit dates.
The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2015:
Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3-12
months

Over
1 year

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

Assets
Cash and bank balances
Accounts receivable and other
assets

4,302,639
924,716

-

-

-

5,837

4,181,615

-

4,302,639
5,112,168

Financial assets available for sale

-

-

-

7,910,671

7,910,671

Investment properties

-

-

-

52,446,830

52,446,830

Investment in associates

-

-

-

27,788,018

27,788,018

Property and equipment

-

-

-

59,139

59,139

5,227,355

5,837

4,181,615

88,204,658

97,619,465

3,149,883

157,040

707,227

-

-

-

35,992,467

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Bank loans
Net liquidity gap

624,454

4,638,604
35,992,467

3,149,883

157,040

707,227

36,616,921

40,631,071

2,077,472

(151,203)

3,474,388

51,587,737

56,988,394

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2014:
Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3-12
months

Over
1 year

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

Assets
Cash and bank balances

8,635,722

-

-

-

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets

1,004,994

1,352,759

3,175,519

-

5,533,272

Financial assets available for sale

-

-

-

16,013,358

16,013,358

Investment properties

-

-

-

59,071,466

59,071,466

Investment in associates

-

-

-

16,074,312

16,074,312

Property and equipment

-

-

-

86,670

86,670

9,640,716

1,352,759

3,175,519

91,245,806

105,414,800

Accounts payable and other liabilities

3,023,236

493,040

608,150

Bank loans

4,504,308

-

-

40,538,777

45,043,085

7,527,544

493,040

608,150

41,222,936

49,851,670

2,113,172

859,719

2,567,369

50,022,870

55,563,130

Liabilities

Net liquidity gap

684,159
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25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
25.1

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped into
three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to
the measurement, as follows:
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
25.2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of the group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:
31 Dec.
2015
KD
Financial assets:
Loans and receivables at amortised cost:
Cash and bank balances
Accounts receivable and other assets
Financial assets available for sale at fair value:
Financial assets available for sale

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Bank loans

31 Dec.
2014
KD

4,302,639
5,112,168

8,635,722
5,533,272

990,906
10,405,713

9,400,150
23,569,144

4,638,604
35,992,467
40,631,071

4,808,585
45,043,085
49,851,670

Management considers that the carrying amounts of loans and receivable and financial liabilities, which are stated at
amortised cost, approximate their fair values.
The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant
input to the fair value measurement.
The fair value of financial assets available for sale, with exception for certain investments carried at cost less
impairment, are classified under level 3.
Level 3 fair value measurements
The group’s financial assets and liabilities classified in Level 3 uses valuation techniques based on significant inputs
that are not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from
beginning to ending balances as follows:
31 Dec.
2015
KD
Opening balance
Purchases/Transfer In
Sales/Transfer out
Gains or losses recognised in:
- Consolidated statement of profit or loss
- Other comprehensive income
Closing balance
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31 Dec.
2014
KD

9,400,150
3,147,706
(11,165,953)

9,621,520
(281,866)

2,250,018
(2,641,015)

(87,770)
148,266

990,906

9,400,150
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25. Fair value measurement (CONTINUED)

25.2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3
fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required. Valuation
techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising
the use of market-based information.
The valuation techniques used for instruments categorised in Level 3 are described below:

Financial assets available for sale:

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g foreign unquoted securities)
is determined by using valuation techniques. Fair value for the underlying unquoted securities investments are
approximately the summation of the estimated value of underlying investments as if realised on the statement of
financial position date.
The investment managers in determining the fair value of these investments use a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each financial position date. Investment managers use
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, recent transactions prices and market multiples to determine fair value.
Gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year are included in gain or loss on
sale of financial assets available for sale and impairment of financial assets available for sale.
Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change
significantly amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, total assets, total liabilities or total
equity.
The impact on consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income would be immaterial if the relevant risk variable used to fair value the level 3 investments
were changed by 5%.
25.3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

31 December 2015
Investment properties
- Building in Kuwait

-

-

8,500,000

8,500,000

- Buildings in other GCC countries

-

-

19,924,136

19,924,136

- Lands in other GCC countries

-

-

24,022,694

24,022,694

-

-

52,446,830

52,446,830

- Building in Kuwait

-

-

8,500,000

8,500,000

- Buildings in other GCC countries

-

-

19,399,207

19,399,207

- Lands in other GCC countries

-

-

31,172,259

31,172,259

-

-

59,071,466

59,071,466

31 December 2014
Investment properties

The fair values of all investment properties have been determined based on valuations obtained from two
independent valuers for each investment property, who are specialised in valuing these types of investment
properties. The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with management. As of 31
December 2015 and 2014, for the valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower value of the two valuations
obtained for each investment property.
www.injazzat.com
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25. Fair value measurement (CONTINUED)

25.3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Buildings in Kuwait and other GCC countries
The fair value of the buildings in Kuwait and other GCC countries has been determined based on the lower of the
two fair values was the fair value provided by a independent values, one of them is a local bank for the local real
estate, who has valued the investment properties using income approach which capitalises the monthly estimated
rental income stream, net of projected operating costs using a discount rate derived from the market yields. When
actual rent differs materially from estimated rents, adjustments have been made to the estimated rental value. When
using the estimated rental stream approach, adjustments to actual rental are incorporated for factors such as current
occupancy levels, the terms of in-place leases, expectations for rentals from future leases and unlicensed rented
areas.
Lands in other GCC countries
The fair value of the lands in other GCC countries have been determined based on the lower of the two fair values was
the fair value provided by an independent valuer who has valued the investment properties using a market approach
that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for
factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances and current use.
Further information regarding the level 3 fair value measurements is set out in the table below:
Description

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Range of unobserv- Relationship of unobservable
able inputs
inputs to fair value

Buildings in Kuwait
and in other GCC
countries

Estimated rental
stream approach

Monthly economic
rental value

KD44,855 to
KD56,931 (2014:
KD43,266 to
KD54,000)

Land in other GCC
countries

Market comparison
approach

Estimated market
price (per sqm)

KD73 to KD139
(2014: KD73 –
KD175)

Fair value increases if economic
rental value increases, and vice
versa.

Higher the price per square meter, higher the fair value

Level 3 Fair value measurements
The Group measurement of investment properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The investment properties within this level can be reconciled from beginning to
ending balances as follows;

Opening balance

31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec. 2014

KD

KD

59,071,466

62,188,407

1,488,153

711,182

(9,789,547)

(5,900,438)

- Sale of investment properties

2,142,504

(185,094)

- Changes in fair value

(1,521,855)

1,258,791

Exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive income

1,056,109

998,618

52,446,830

59,071,466

Additions
Disposals sale value
Gain or losses recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss on:

Closing balance
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26. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back treasury shares, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group
includes within net debt and loans, less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners
of the Parent Company.
31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec.
2014

KD

KD

Bank loans

35,992,467

Less: Cash and bank balances

45,043,085

(4,302,639)

(8,635,722)

Net debt

31,689,828

36,407,363

Equity

56,988,394

55,563,130

Total capital

88,678,222

91,970,493

Consistent with others in the industry the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The Group’s
policy is to keep the gearing ratio within 60%.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital as follows:
31 Dec. 2015

31 Dec. 2014

Net debt

31,689,828

36,407,363

Capital

88,678,222

91,970,493

Gearing ratio

36%

40%

27. Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. This reclassification did not affect the previously reported results, total assets and equity.
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